
HOW CAME CIVILIZATION? The Jarmo Expedition

The most complete and diversified team of experts ever assembled to study man’s emergence from the caves and the beginnings of civilization returned from Iraq in August, 1955. During the past year it has been preparing a full-bodied report upon its findings. Chapters will describe the geological setting of the transition (H. Wright, geologist), the plant and animal resources available for it (H. Helbaek, botanist; C. Reed, zoologist), the artifacts produced in it (B. Howe, prehistorian; V. Broman, P. Watson, J. Caldwell), and Carbon 14 materials used to date it (F. Matson, ceramist).

The article in Life magazine dealing with the discovery of agriculture in the “Epic of Man” series (April 16, 1956) was based upon a visit of members of the Life staff to the excavations. Other articles have appeared in the Illustrated London News, in Archaeology, and in Antiquity. In November, after the first report made to Institute Members, a symposium was held on the subject in connection with the twenty-fifth anniversary of the Social Science Building on campus.

R. J. BRAIDWOOD, Field Director

LO, THE ANCIENT SUMERIANS The Nippur Expedition

Creators of the first city-states, the Sumerians are the earliest representatives of high civilization in the Land of the Two Rivers. In 1955–56 the Institute’s Sumerologists were again in the field, excavating at Nippur, in lower Iraq. The expedition was conducted jointly with the American Schools of Oriental Research. Under an overburden as much as 30 feet deep, we have found one of the largest temples ever built by the Sumerians, dedicated to Inanna, goddess of war and love, and belonging to about 2000 B.C. To date only half of the structure has been laid bare.

Important finds of objects, of inscribed clay tablets, and especially of bronze statuettes were made in the course of the excavations. The statuettes had been laid in boxes under the walls of the temple as foundation deposits. They represent the Sumerian kings Ur-Nammu and Shulgi, who founded the temple, carrying the first basket of earth from the excavation. (See Cover.)

With me as members of the staff were Professor Albrecht Goetze (Yale), Dr. Vaughn Crawford (Yale), Donald Hansen (Harvard Fellow), Professor Thorkild Jacobsen (Oriental Institute).

R. C. HAINES, Field Director
ROYAL RECORDS OF RAMSES III

During 1955-56 the Epigraphic Expedition to Egypt continued to pursue its task of recording the inscriptions and reliefs of Ramses III in his mortuary temple, Medinet Habu, at Luxor. Draftsmen Champion and Floroff accounted for thirty large facsimile drawings of reliefs in the Osiris Suite and in the rooms adjacent to the Hypostyle Hall. Dr. Nims photographed the running inscriptions on the architraves of the Second Court, a high-ladder enterprise.

Through Dr. Nims the Epigraphic Expedition also participated in recording the monuments of Nubia that will be inundated when the new high Assuan Dam is built. He spent six weeks photographing the temple of Ramses II at Abu Simbel. The work is sponsored by UNESCO.

The expedition brought back to Chicago in 1955 the materials for the fifth large folio volume of Medinet Habu inscriptions and reliefs. This awaits publication. Meanwhile we are well on our way to the completion of Volume VI. Our goal is to complete the work on the Medinet Habu temple by 1961. Two additional draftsmen have been engaged to assist the epigraphers in this task.

GEORGE R. HUGHES, Field Director

WHERE EAST AND WEST MET  The Libyan Expedition

During the spring of 1956 an Institute group took the field in Libya on the North African coast excavating and exploring the remains of an ancient city established by the Greek kings of Egypt in the third century B.C. The city is ancient Ptolemais (named after its founder), modern Tolmeita, directly on the coast of the Mediterranean.

It was possible during the brief season of work to establish the original city plan, to excavate partially an important building of the mid-second century A.D., and to study the measures taken to defend the city during the last centuries of its history, those preceding the Arab conquest. The enterprise is expected to provide laboratory material from a new area for the study of the civic communities in the Near East and for the study of the penetration of Western civic ideals and urban forms into the Orient in the period after Alexander the Great.

Participating in the enterprise with me were Dr. Charles Nims of the Institute’s Epigraphic Survey, Dr. Lucetta Mowry (Wellesley College), G. H. R. Wright, architect (British School, Ankara).

CARL H. KRAELING, Field Director
NOW WE CAN REALLY TRANSLATE ASSYRIAN

At home the Assyrian Dictionary enterprise, thirty-five years in progress, published the first of its projected twenty-odd volumes. Other volumes are to follow in rapid succession. This is a heroic undertaking and has already been hailed in Europe and America as marking a milestone in the history of Assyriological studies. For a million cuneiform tablets, and for three thousand years of Mesopotamian civilization, at last we have the beginning of a real “open sesame.” The publication began with the words listed under the letter H, which is not so strange as it seems, because good judgment suggested beginning where the linguistic and philological problems were least complicated. The printing was done in Germany. Publication was directly by the Institute, and all income from sales reverts to the Institute to be used in the printing of more volumes. Currently fully caught up with me in the enterprise are Professors Benno Landsberger and Thorkild Jacobsen, Research Associates Richard Hallock, Michael Rowton, and Erica Reiner, and Research Assistants Father William Moran and Rivkah Harris.

Leo Oppenheim, Managing Editor

PUBLICATIONS GENERALLY

The Oriental Institute is noted for its weighty scientific publications (ask for our Catalogue, listing over a hundred and fifty titles). During the year the editorial office processed and delivered to the University of Chicago Press four major manuscripts to appear as “Oriental Institute Publications” (OIP), namely, R. and L. Braidwood, Excavations in the Plain of Antioch I; C. McEwan and others, Excavations at Tell Fakharaya; the Epigraphic Survey, Medinet Habu V; and Adriaan de Buck, Egyptian Coffin Texts VI. Two other manuscripts were received and are being processed, namely, M. Lichtheim, Demotic Ostraca from Medinet Habu, and S. Schott, Wall Scenes from the Mortuary Chapel of the Mayor Paser at Medinet Habu.

One volume was published by the University Press in 1955-56, namely, A. Poebel, The Second Dynasty of Isin; and two others are in process of publication, namely, N. Abbott, Studies in Arabic Literary Papyri, and E. Schmidt, Persepolis II. Publication lags sadly behind production owing to high printing costs in the United States.

K. Seele, Chairman, Publications Committee
THE MUSEUM

Three special exhibits were arranged in the Museum in 1955–56. Mrs. Max Schloessinger, of New York, lent us her collection of ancient lamps. These, when augmented by the Institute's finds from the earliest periods in Mesopotamia, demonstrated the range of floating-wick oil lamps from around 3000 B.C. through the Roman period. During October we hung an exhibit of water-color paintings by Eliot O'Hara. The job of hanging pictures in a museum without spare wall space was one that really taxed our ingenuity. In December we set up a series of plaster casts of sculpture from Nineveh, as well as photographs, drawings, and objects borrowed from other museums, to illustrate the beginnings of narrative art. This tied in with a symposium that the Archeological Institute of America held at the Oriental Institute the week after Christmas.

In our laboratories three volunteers have helped faithfully with restoration. Mrs. John Livingood is reconstructing an Egyptian title-ceiling ornament; Mrs. Theodore Tieken has rebuilt many pottery vases from the fragments found buried in excavated mounds; and Mrs. John Womer has made new model trees and other accessories for the model of the Tell el Amarna house that is exhibited in the Assyrian Hall. Preparator Hanson has been installing new lighting fixtures on exhibition cases, and Assistant Preparator Timoscewski undertook the delicate restoration of a stela from Dendera.

Some noteworthy new acquisitions were added to the Museum collection last year, in addition to selected objects from the excavations at Nippur, Jarmo, and Khirbet Kerak. We were fortunate to acquire a fragment of one of the Dead Sea Scrolls, which Dr. Frank Cross has identified as part of the Cave 4 hoard. It, some papyri from Khirbet Mirt, and the Dead Sea Scroll storage jar make the nucleus of what we hope will be a growing exhibit of this interesting material. So far this fragment is the only verified piece in any American museum.

Through the generosity of Mrs. Edwin Seipp we have been able to acquire a gold plaque, roughly 2 by 5 inches, of the Achaemenian period. It shows a winged griffon and winged bull walking toward a stylized tree. The plaque was once part of a larger gold ornament, probably a pectoral or breastplate. The plaque is part of the famous Ziwiyah treasure found in Kurdestan in 1947 by women looking for clay to repair their mud-brick houses. The Metropolitan Museum in New York has bought enough pieces of the gold to restore an entire breastplate, and some
of the ivories. We are glad to have at least a sample of the material.

A Sumerian bronze statuette and its accompanying stone tablet are also new acquisitions, purchased with membership funds. They were excavated at Ur but came to us through a dealer. It was the custom for Sumerian kings to place such bronze statuettes and tablets under the walls of buildings they were erecting to commemorate the event and perhaps to work some magic for the king too. The statuettes regularly show the king carrying on his head the first basketful of earth from the excavation. Often from the waist down the figures show no anatomical definition and hence are known as "nail men." The accompanying stone tablet bears the dedication of the king, whose dates were around 1900 B.C. The purchase of these objects in January must have brought us luck, because in February at Nippur our expedition uncovered seven such foundation deposits three of which the Iraq Department of Antiquities permitted us to bring back to our Museum. After cleaning and examination, all will be on exhibit in the fall.

We have exchanged some duplicate items in our collection with Egyptian pieces from the Royal Archaeological Museum at Toronto. Three prehistoric maceheads of unusual shape, a figurine, a jar, and an ivory hairpin are now ours on indefinite loan.

From the estate of Miss Helen Gardner, late lecturer at the Art Institute, we received a Roman gold bracelet. Mr. Chester D. Tripp gave us a spectacular collection of Hellenistic gold jewelry from Syria, on loan since 1953.

The official accessioning of expedition finds and purchases in the Museum archives cannot be accomplished until the archeologists have prepared the material for publication. In 1955-56 the descriptive cards were made for all the objects from the first four seasons at Nippur and for the objects found at Khirbet Kerak. About 553 items, large and small, were accessioned. Some 2,864 photographs and their negatives were put on file. In the Museum office 1,094 map guides, 1,945 postcards, 212 Iranian Hall handbooks, 375 photographs, 165 copies of La Peinture ancienne égyptienne, and 94 unbound copies of Oriental Institute publications were sold. Museum attendance for the year was 39,190. There were 152 groups. The lecture hall was host to 36 different meetings.

P. DELougaz, Curator
W. BOYES, Museum Secretary
FROM THE DIRECTOR’S STUDY

The tempo of the Institute’s work has picked up rapidly during the year 1955–56, and a further acceleration is anticipated. Plans were put into operation to complete within a six-year period some of the major enterprises inherited from the past. New helpers were mobilized to make this possible. The excavations in Iraq were highly rewarding. The long-awaited Assyrian Dictionary has begun to appear.

An ambitious new research program has been launched, intended to make more plastic than ever before the nature and meaning of ancient history. This has its focus in the study of the urban communities as the occasion and the hearth of higher civilization. A successful operation in Libya provided new insights into a later phase of ancient Near Eastern city life. New expeditions, led by newly recruited younger staff members, have been developed to tackle urbanization at its beginnings and in special areas. They will take the field in 1956–57. Seminars and special publications are to follow.

A new program of outreach to the community through the increased use of the Museum for educational purposes has been drafted and will go into operation as soon as new staff appointments can be made. Lectures, newsletters, and receptions followed their usual course. Assistance was given to members traveling in the Near East. Our Dead Sea Scroll exhibit continues to attract attention far and near.

All this has been made possible by the interest and support of our members from the Greater Chicago area, by increases in our budget provided by the University, and by a generous gift of Mr. John D. Rockefeller, Jr. His contribution was made because he believes that the Institute has the promise of important new contributions to the study of man’s cultural heritage and because of the interest you have shown in our effort. We need your interest and support to keep our work moving ahead.

CARL H. KRAELING, Director

THE ORIENTAL INSTITUTE
OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO
1155 East Fifty-eighth Street, Chicago 37, Illinois

The Museum is open daily except Mondays, from 10:00 A.M. to 12:00 M. and from 1:00 to 5:00 P.M. Admission is free.
To Oriental Institute Members the year 1955–56 again brought a lecture series and newsletters from the field. Five lectures dealt with new archeological discoveries in the Near East. Four others, arranged jointly with the Archeological Institute of America, provided a diversified fare. The reception for Members, following Dr. Kraeling’s lecture in October, has become an annual event much enjoyed and appreciated by the Institute staff. Three newsletters from Egypt, five from the Nippur excavations, one reporting on Syria-Jordan, and three from Libya were distributed. Copies of La Peinture ancienne égyptienne and of an article describing the new Hellenistic gold jewelry which was given to the Museum by Mr. Chester Tripp were distributed at intervals.

The Visiting Committee of the Oriental Institute, appointed by the trustees from the membership group, consists of the following:

John Nuveen, Chairman
Alvin Bastien
Howard Goodman
Walter Paepcke
Ernest Quantrell
Richard E. Schmidt
Hermon D. Smith
Chester D. Tripp
Roderick S. Webster

Mrs. Gustavus F. Swift, Co-chairman
Mrs. Robert McCormick Adams
Mrs. Tiffany Blake
Mrs. John Alden Carpenter
Mrs. Earle Ludgin
Mrs. Phillip Miller
Mrs. Edwin Seipp
Mrs. Joseph Valentine
Mrs. Roderick S. Webster

CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF THE ORIENTAL INSTITUTE MEMBERSHIP INCOME FUND

Balance: July 1, 1956 .................................................. $20,046.84
Income:
Dues from annual members ............................................. 2,301.00
Dues from sustaining members ............................ 750.00
Dues from associate members ............................. 1,800.00
Other gifts .......................................................... 7,317.35
Fees, sales, royalties ................................................. 110.43
Total Income .......................................................... $31,725.62

Expenditures:
Newsletters, lectures, reception ..................................... $1,636.30
Color plates for articles on Palmyra tomb to be printed in Syria ................................................. 1,000.00
Underwriting of Assyrian Dictionary, Vol. VI ............. 7,320.00
Ziwiye gold plaque and cylinder seals ......................... 3,250.00
New slide projector for lecture hall .............................. 687.74
Faculty travel to learned societies .................................. 360.05
Dead Sea Scroll fragment and 4 papyri ...................... 150.00
Color plates for Hellenistic gold article in Archaeology ........ 350.00
Operation and maintenance of Libyan excavation ........ 7,110.18
Equipment for the building ....................................... 302.68
Miscellaneous ....................................................... 256.74
Photographic services .............................................. 149.50
Extra expenses of Jarmo Expedition ............................ 1,500.00
Total Expenditures ................................................ $24,073.19
Balance: June 30, 1956 ............................................... $ 7,652.43
MEMBERS OF THE ORIENTAL INSTITUTE

Mr. & Mrs. Donald F. Abel, Chicago
Mrs. Robert McCormick Adams, Chicago
Dr. & Mrs. William E. Adams, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Graham Aldis, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. Robert Allerton, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Hugo A. Anderson, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Albert L. Arenberg, Highland Park, Ill.
Mr. Fred Ascher, Chicago
Mr. George Athas, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Benjamin H. Badenoch, Clarendon Hills, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Arthur A. Baer, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Roger Poole Baldwin, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Rosecrans Baldwin, Barrington, Ill.
Mrs. Ernest S. Ballard, Hubbard Woods, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. James M. Barker, Chicago
Mrs. Henry G. Barkhausen, Chicago
Mrs. Cecil Barnes, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Roy Evan Barr, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Alvin E. Bastien, Chicago
Mrs. James E. Baum, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Laird Bell, Winnetka, Ill.
Miss Dawn Bennett, Chicago
Dr. & Mrs. Charles L. Bidwell, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Einar Bjorkland, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Hill Blackett, Newton, Ga.
Mrs. Tiffany Blake, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Leigh Block, Chicago

Mr. & Mrs. Carleton Blunt, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Stewart Boal, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Thomas Boal, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Chauncey Borland, Chicago
Miss Harriet Borland, Washington, D.C.
Mrs. Augustine Bowe, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. J. A. Bowman, Evanston, Ill.
Mr. William R. Boyd, Lake Wales, Fla.
The Rev. Professor Raymond Boyer, France
Mr. & Mrs. Charles T. Boynton, Elkhart, Ind.
Mr. & Mrs. Herbert E. Bradley, Chicago
Dr. & Mrs. M. R. Broman, Evanston, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Samuel H. Brown, Tacoma, Wash.
Mr. & Mrs. Walter Buchen, Winnetka, Ill.
Mrs. Clarence A. Burley, Winnetka, Ill.
Mrs. John Meigs Butler, Hubbard Woods, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Morton D. Cahn, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. William J. Carney, Chicago
Mrs. John Alden Carpenter, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Edward J. Chalfoux, La Grange, Ill.
Prof. William Douglas Chamberlain, Louisville, Ky.
Miss Margaret Chapman, Coldwater, Mich.
Mr. & Mrs. Harry H. Chumley, Chicago
Dr. Marie L. Connelly, Chicago
Col. & Mrs. Clarence E. Cotter, Chicago
Mrs. George L. Cragg, Chicago
Mrs. Benjamin Crawford, Chicago
Dr. & Mrs. A. A. Dahlberg, Chicago
Miss Corki Dahlberg, New London, Conn.
Mr. & Mrs. William W. Darrow, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Sigmund W. David, Glencoe, Ill.
Miss Mary C. Davis, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. O. Paul Decker, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Gus C. Detlefsen, Chicago
Mr. Frank W. DeWolf, Urbana, Ill.
Mr. Donald J. DeWolfe, Chicago
Mrs. Homer Dixon, Chicago
Prof. Bayard Dodge, Princeton, N.J.
Prof. Georges Dossin, Liège, Belgium
Mr. Byron C. Drachman, Flossmoor, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Harry J. Dunbaugh, Hubbard Woods, Ill.
Mr. Dows Dunham, Boston, Mass.
Mr. & Mrs. Alfred K. Eddy, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. F. C. Edelston, Chicago
Mr. E. K. Eichengreen, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Winston Elting, Libertyville, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Dewey A. Ericsson, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Thurlow G. Essington, Chicago
Mr. David Evans, Chicago
Mr. Walter A. Fairservis, Jr., New York, N.Y.
Mr. & Mrs. John F. Fenn, Winnetka, Ill.
Mrs. Howard W. Fenton, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Edward R. Ferriss, St. Charles, Ill.
Mr. André M. Finet, Hainaut, Belgium
Mr. & Mrs. Walter T. Fisher, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. John M. Frank, Winnetka, Ill.
Miss Estelle S. Frankfurter, New York, N.Y.
Dr. & Mrs. Thomas M. French, Chicago
Dr. Paul Leslie Garber, Decatur, Ga.
Mr. Hugh M. G. Garden, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Bertrand Goldberg, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Everett D. Graff, Winnetka, Ill.
Miss Ruth E. Green, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Carl D. Greenleaf, Elkhart, Ind.
Mr. & Mrs. William E. Goodman, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Charles C. Haffner, Jr., Lake Forest, Ill.
Mrs. William Brown Hale, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. H. H. Halley, Chicago
Mrs. Chalkley J. Hambleton, Chicago
Dr. Edwin B. Hamilton, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Homer Hargrave, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. C. Daggett Harvey, Chicago
Mr. A. E. Hauenstein, Tell City, Ind.
Dr. & Mrs. William H. Hazlett, Chicago
Mrs. George W. P. Heffelfinger, Mound, Minn.
Mr. Edward F. Hill, Association Camp, Colo.
Mrs. M. A. Hirsch, Chicago
Mrs. Frank P. Hixon, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Albert L. Hopkins, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Bernhard Lothar Hörmann, Honolulu, T.H.
Mr. & Mrs. James P. Hume, Chicago
Mr. Patrick H. Hume, Chicago
Mr. Dwight Ingram, Chicago
Mr. Egbert G. Jacobson, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Christian E. Jarchow, Wilmette, Ill.
Miss Harriet E. Johnson, Cambridge, Mass.
Mr. & Mrs. James P. Johnson, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. George R. Jones, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Robcliff V. Jones, Bronxville, N.Y.
Mr. & Mrs. Robert V. Jones, Chicago
Mrs. Edwin Oakes Jordan, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Stanley Keith, Chicago
Miss Esther Kellner, Richmond, Ind.
Mr. & Mrs. Meyer Kestnbaum, Chicago
Rev. Walter C. Klein, Evanston, Ill.
Mr. William P. Kleitsch, Omaha, Neb.
Miss Virginia C. Koenitzer, Milwaukee, Wis.
Mrs. Babette Kornblith, Chicago
Mrs. Louis J. Kraus, Detroit, Mich.
Mr. & Mrs. Louis B. Kuppenheimer, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. Herman H. Lackner, Winnetka, Ill.
Mrs. Chester W. Laing, Chicago
Col. & Mrs. George Taylor Langhorne, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Roger L. Lemon, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. George V. LeRoy, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. John W. Leslie, Evanston, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Nathaniel Leverone, Chicago
Mrs. Salmon O. Levinson, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. John Livingood, Hinsdale, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Glenn A. Lloyd, Libertyville, Ill.
Mr. Rajko Lozar, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Earle Ludgin, Hubbard Woods, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Harold H. Lundberg, Wilmette, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. B. H. Lunde, Park Ridge, Ill.
Mr. Erling H. Lunde, Chicago
Mr. Samuel MacClintock, Chicago
Dr. Hugh N. MacKechnie, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Arnold Maremont, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Thomas L. Marshall, Chicago
Miss Laura F. Martin, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Hans von der Marwitz, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Samuel A. Marx, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Seabury C. Mastick, Pleasantville, N.Y.
Mr. & Mrs. Herbert G. May, Oberlin, Ohio
Mrs. Donald Mazer, Chicago
Mr. Donald F. McClure, Chicago
Mr. Fowler McCormick, Chicago
Dr. C. C. McCown, Berkeley, Calif.
Mr. & Mrs. Robert McDougal, Jr., Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. George B. McKibbin, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. John H. Merrell, Chicago
Mrs. Clinton Merrick, Evanston, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Gerhardt F. Meyne, Chicago
Dr. & Mrs. C. Phillip Miller, Chicago
Miss Dorothy L. Miller, Rockford, Ill.
Col. & Mrs. William J. Morden, Chappaqua, N.Y.
Mrs. Charles T. Mordock, Winnetka, Ill.
Mrs. Harry Morrison, Lemnoville, P.Q., Canada
Mr. & Mrs. Charles H. Morse, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Sterling Morton, Santa Barbara, Calif.
Mr. & Mrs. Howell W. Murray, Highland Park, Ill.
Dr. Charles A. Muses, Indian Hills, Colo.
Mr. & Mrs. Ernest L. Newton, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Louis Heyl Nichols, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. William R. Odell, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. Oliver S. Oesch, Salem, Ind.
Miss Phyllis Omoto, Chicago
Dr. Marie Ortmayer, Denver, Colo.
Mr. & Mrs. Gilbert H. Osgood, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Joseph E. Otis, Chicago
Mr. Raymond S. Owen, Chicago
Dr. & Mrs. Walter L. Palmer, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Austin H. Parker, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Norman S. Parker, Evanston, Ill.
Dr. & Mrs. Paul J. Patchen, Chicago
Mr. Robert Patterson, Chicago
Mr. Stewart Patterson, Chicago
Mrs. William F. Petersen, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Holman D. Pettibone, Winnetka, Ill.
Dr. Charles F. Pfeiffer, Chicago
Mrs. Dallas B. Phemister, Chicago
Mr. Edward J. Platt, New York, N.Y.
Mr. & Mrs. Leon Pomerance, Great Neck, N.Y.
Mr. Frederick H. Pralle, River Forest, Ill.
Mrs. Ira Maurice Price, Chicago
Dr. Jeremiah Quin, Chicago
Mr. Leonard C. Rattner, New York, N.Y.
Mr. John Rea, Winona Lake, Ind.
Mr. & Mrs. William M. Redfield, Chicago
Mr. Haven A. Requa, Chicago
Mr. John T. Roberts, Denver, Colo.
Mr. K. M. Rode, Youngstown, Ohio
Mr. John W. Ruettiger, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Edward L. Ryerson, Chicago
Dr. & Mrs. Harold Schwartz, Chicago
Seabury-Western Theological Seminary, Evanston, Ill.
Mrs. Edwin A. Seipp, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Ovid R. Sellers, Santa Fe, N.M.
Mr. & Mrs. R. L. Sergel, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. John W. Shaw, Libertyville, Ill.
Mr. Joseph W. Shaw, Chicago
Mr. Carl T. Shelby, Muncie, Ind.
Mr. & Mrs. Theodore Sheldon, Winnetka, Ill.
Miss Laune Slomer, Chicago
Miss A. Marguerite Smith, Brookline, Mass.
Miss Gertrude Smith, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Perry D. Smith, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Ralph W. Smith, Niles, Mich.
Mr. & Mrs. Solomon B. Smith, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. William D. Smith, Toledo, Ohio
Mr. A. James Speyer, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Robert E. Spiel, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Edgar Stanton, Jr., Aspen, Colo.
Mr. & Mrs. Sydney Stein, Jr., Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Howard Stone, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Marshall H. Stone, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Jonathan W. Strong, Winnetka, Ill.
Mrs. Alden B. Swift, Chicago
Mrs. Gustavus F. Swift, Sr., Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Gustavus F. Swift, Jr., Chicago
Mr. Harold H. Swift, Chicago
Mrs. George Busey Tawney, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Frank F. Taylor, Oak Park, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. John R. Thomas, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Theodore D. Ticken, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Fred M. Torrey, Chicago
Mr. Prescott W. Townsend, Bloomington, Ind.
Mr. Chester D. Tripp, Chicago
Dr. & Mrs. Erich M. Uhlmann, Chicago
Mr. Edgar J. Uihlein, Chicago
Mrs. Joseph L. Valentine, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Noah van Cleef, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Archibald Beebe Van Deusen, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Errett Van Nice, Chicago
Mr. Harold Volkert, Chicago
Mr. Howard F. Vos, Chicago
Mr. Herman Waldeck, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Maurice Walk, Highland Park, Ill.
Misses Eva R. & Elizabeth Watson, Chicago
Miss Mary H. Webster, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Roderick S. Webster, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. Arthur R. Weinstein, Glencoe, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. L. C. Welch, Evanston, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. John P. Welling, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Preston A. Wells, Winnetka, Ill.
Mr. & Mrs. Barrett Wendell, Chicago
Col. & Mrs. Edward N. Wentworth, Chesterton, Ind.
Mr. & Mrs. Peter L. Wentz, Chicago
Mr. Edward Thomas Wilson, Winnetka, Ill.
Mrs. Gladyse Winger, Council Bluffs, Iowa
Mr. & Mrs. Walter B. Wolf, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. John R. Womer, Chicago
Mr. & Mrs. Frank H. Woods, Lake Forest, Ill.
Mr. Robert Zimmermann, San Marino, Calif.
Mr. & Mrs. Victor K. Zurcher, Lake Forest, Ill.